
INFRASTRUCTURE COMMITTEE MEETING  

Monday, February 26, 2018 

6:00 P.M. 

HAMPDEN TOWN OFFICE 

AGENDA 

 

1. MINUTES  

a. January 29, 2018 Meeting 

 

2. OLD BUSINESS  

a. Update on Hampden Capital Program work underway 

b. Update on CSO Annual Report due to DEP on March 1, 2018 

c. Update regarding implementation of Flow Control Ordinance 

d. Update on installation of floating dock at Marina 

e. Discussion of reorganization of Public Works – request of Councilor McAvoy 

f. Discussion of licensure of Public Works employees – request of Councilor 

Ryder 

 

3. NEW BUSINESS  

a. Consideration of referring to Finance Committee a recommendation to 

amend the FY18 Sewer Budget to: 

- Increase budgeted expenses by $73,500 to authorize expenditure of 

revenues projected in FY18 but not included in expense budget, for the 

purpose of supporting engineering services for sewer capital projects, 

support for creating a sewer Fiscal Sustainability Plan and/or Asset 

Management Plan, and dedication of funds toward a sewer reserve 

- Increase budgeted revenues in the 60-79 revenue line to reflect 

anticipated collection of $53,305 in unbudgeted sewer connection fees 

- Increase budgeted expenses by $53,305 to authorize expenditure of 

revenues projected to be generated in FY18 but not included in approved 

expense budget, for the purpose of supporting mitigation of anticipated 

Fiberight/Coastal flow impacts on existing infrastructure, and engineering 

services for other sewer projects 

b. Review of MDOT letters regarding authorization of trucks over weight limit 

on local roads related to MDOT project 023326.00 (hot mix asphalt overlay, 

Hampden and Newburgh) and MDOT project 023318.00 (hot mix asphalt 

overlay, Hampden and Hermon) 

c. Discussion of potential costs and benefits of preparing and implementing a 

Fiscal Sustainability Plan to meet requirements for potential sewer 

infrastructure financing through the State Revolving Fund 



d. Discussion of sleeping while on the clock by Public Works – request of 

Councilor Ryder 

e. Discussion of third-party inspections (Building and Electrical, etc.) – request 

of Councilor McAvoy 

 

4. STAFF UPDATES 

 

5. PUBLIC COMMENTS  

 

6. COMMITTEE MEMBER COMMENTS 

 
7. ADJOURN 



INFRASTRUCTURE COMMITTEE MEETING  

Monday, January 29, 2017 

 
MINUTES – DRAFT   

 
Attending: 
 Mayor Ivan McPike     DPW Director Sean Currier 
 Councilor Mark Cormier, Chairman Town Manager Angus Jennings  
 Councilor Dennis Marble   Kyle Corbeil, Woodard & Curran 
 Councilor Terry McAvoy   Roland Fogg, Resident 
 Councilor David Ryder  
 Councilor Stephen Wilde        
   
Chairman Cormier called the meeting to order at 6 PM. 

 

1. MINUTES  

 November 27, 2017 Meeting – Motion by Councilor Marble seconded by 

 Councilor McAvoy to approve the minutes as written. Motion carried 6-0. 

 

Item 5. a. was taken up first due to a member of the public in attendance           

with an interest in the item. 

 

5. PUBLIC COMMENTS: 

a. Correspondence from Roland Fogg regarding salt v. sand for 

roads maintenance. 

Roland Fogg, of Kennebec Road had concerns over the sand vs salt 

being used on his stretch of road.  Mr. Fogg has lived on the Kennebec 

Road for 68 years, it’s gotten worse over time. He stated that once 

applied, the sand turns to mud, and once dry, turns into a dust storm.  

Director Currier stated that the price per ton for salt is $60.00, verses 

$400.00 per mile a year for sand/salt mix. Director Currier pointed out that 

it would cost the Town $33,000.00 to use salt in just Mr. Fogg’s portion of 

the road. 

Chairman Cormier asked if there was an environmental assessment done. 

Councilor Ryder stated no harm in running the grades. 

Director Currier stated he could drop a sample off to SW Cole, if the 

Committee wishes.  

 

2. OLD BUSINESS  

a. Update on Hampden Capital Program work underway – 

Manager Jennings presented draft of the Capital Program.  There was 

positive feedback from committee. 

 

townmanager
Typewritten Text
1-a



3. NEW BUSINESS  

a. Meeting with consultant engineer to review findings to date from 

CCTV (closed circuit TV) review of sewer infrastructure, and 

recommended capital projects to coincide with MDOT road 

reconstruction project. 

Kyle Corbeil P.E., with Woodard & Curran presented a large map 

showing CCTV area focused on upcoming project work.  Rte.1A 

corridor down as far as the Skehan Center and Western Avenue to 

Mayo Road were reconstruction in 1950’s, transitioning both gravity & 

force main, these pipes are in poor condition. 

 

Public Works Director Currier stated that if gravity section failed, 

pumps would continue to pump, under pressure. 

 

Mr. Corbeil discussed vitrified clay pipe, lots of cracks.  There is a lot of 

gravel in the line. 

Councilor Ryder stated it comes down to how much can the ratepayer 

absorb.  They get hit with sewer, water rates, and school tax increases.  

If we combined 1A to school would like to see how. Could take out 

Dewey Street for another day. 

 

Town Manager Jennings stated he can look at TIF eligibility until 

February 2020 to come up with possible funding.   

Mr. Corbeil stated the inspection company rates pipes and manholes 

for structural deficiencies. 

 

b. Correspondence from Hampden Water District regarding 
anticipated water rate increase – Manager Jennings gave an 
informational update on the meeting with FEMA, MEMA, and 
Penobscot County EMA.  He stated that he is hopeful that the Town 
will receive some federal money to help cover the windstorm cost. 

 

4. STAFF UPDATES – CSO Non- Compliance/discharge Incident Report 

regarding Souadabscook Pump Station filed with MDEP Jan 13, 2018 

 

5. PUBLIC COMMENTS – Correspondence from Roland Fogg regarding salt 

v. sand for roads maintenance 

 

6. COMMITTEE MEMBER COMMENTS – Councilor McAvoy questioned 

whether at some point the Town will do RFP to contract out mowing. 

Town Manager Jennings stated yes. 

Councilor McAvoy would like copies of road lengths.  He questioned when  

Council will take time to evaluate relative costs of contracting out plowing 



and stated it should be on next agenda, along with reorganizing public 

works. 

 

Councilor Wilde asked whether Schoolhouse Lane is being looked at.  

 

Director Currier stated that improvements would again be proposed in the 

Capital Program as they have been in the past.  He would like to see a 

resolution to the issues on Schoolhouse Lane but it will require funding. 

 

Chairman Cormier stated that Schoolhouse Lane is very important to get 

repaired as it is affecting properties. 

Councilor Marble asked if the numbers for sewer would go to finance on 

February 20, 2018.  

Town Manager Jennings stated yes. 

Councilor Ryder stated that there was a plow truck on Patterson Road 

with plow up, should keep the plow down.   

Councilor Wilde stated he traveled to Houlton and noticed worse roads 

than Hampden. Hampden does better on in-town roads than they do in 

Houlton and commended the job the Public Works have been doing. 

 

7. ADJOURN 

 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:47 p.m. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Rosemary Bezanson, Public Works 



  
 
TO:  Infrastructure Committee 

FROM: Angus Jennings, Town Manager 

DATE:  February 23, 2018 

RE:  Status of implementation of Flow Control Ordinance 
 

 

Next week the new ordinance, which takes effect April 1, will be mailed to solid waste 
haulers known to be active in Hampden and this region, along with a license application 
form and a copy of the ordinance. My office has been working with the Town Clerk and 
DPW staff to establish administrative forms and procedures. 
 
The DPW Administrative Assistant will maintain a binder of licensed haulers and after 
initial licensing will contact haulers on an annual basis to secure renewal, and ensure 
updated vehicle and insurance information is on file as required by ordinance. The 
Town Clerk’s office may assist as needed with initial roll-out and implementation of the 
new ordinance. 
 
 

Town of Hampden 
106 Western Avenue 
Hampden, Maine 04444 
 

 

Phone: (207) 862-3034 
Fax:   (207) 862-5067 
Email: 
townmanager@hampdenmaine.gov 

 

townmanager
Typewritten Text
2-c



  
 
TO:  Infrastructure Committee 

FROM: Angus Jennings, Town Manager 

DATE:  February 23, 2018 

RE:  New floating dock at Marina 
 

 

The floating dock purchased with grant funds and Marina reserve funds was delivered 
yesterday. DPW is working with Hamlin’s Marina on installation, and will continue to 
coordinate ongoing storage and maintenance functions as appropriate. Photos of the 
new floating dock will be provided upon installation. 
 
 

Town of Hampden 
106 Western Avenue 
Hampden, Maine 04444 
 

 

Phone: (207) 862-3034 
Fax:   (207) 862-5067 
Email: 
townmanager@hampdenmaine.gov 

 

townmanager
Typewritten Text
2-d



  
TO:  Infrastructure Committee 

FROM: Angus Jennings, Town Manager 

DATE:  February 23, 2018 

RE:  Discussion of Reorganization of Public Works 
 

 

One of the Council’s objectives for the current fiscal year identified at last year’s goal 
setting is to “Evaluate suitability of current DPW departmental structure and staffing to 
meet Town’s needs; including evaluating potential to outsource certain functions.” 
 
At the February 10 Goal Setting meeting Director Currier presented a proposed DPW 
Org Chart, future policy direction, equipment replacement schedule, and FY19 goals. 
These materials are enclosed, and will be the basis of Director Currier’s proposed FY19 
budget. In preparing my budget for presentation to Town Council, I will review the 
proposed budget in light of the goals and priorities established by the Council. 
 
In support of the Committee’s discussion, I have enclosed the following materials that 
have been previously provided on this topic: 
 

a) An excerpt of a 2012 summary of State or Federal mandates applicable to Public 
Works functions. (This excerpt does not include local mandates resulting from 
Town ordinances or policies, or State or Federal mandates applicable to all 
public entities, such as records retention, Department of Labor trainings, etc., or 
mandates enacted since 2012. The complete MMA document is posted to the 
Town Council meetings webpage with the 2018 Goal Setting packet). 

b) Municipal DPW survey presented by former Town Manager at January 2015 
meeting of the Infrastructure Committee, including meeting minutes. 

 
In order to build on prior work, and based on my current understanding of the majority of 
Councilors’ objectives with regard to DPW organizational structure, I recommended in 
January 2018, and at the February Goals Setting meeting, that I believe it will be 
necessary to contract out this evaluation in order to meet the Council’s objectives. 
 
I have since obtained a sample RFQ for an organizational assessment that offers one 
model (albeit on a larger county-wide scale) on which to prepare a scope for a 
comparable analysis of the Hampden DPW organizational and financial structure, 
including evaluating whether an alternative structure that relies more heavily on 
contracted services could yield cost savings with comparable level of service. A scope 
of work targeted to Hampden’s objectives could include evaluation of specific policy 
recommendations the Town could invite the vendor to “test” through their assessment. 
 
If the majority of Councilors support this, I will work with the Director to prepare a work 
scope in order to estimate project costs for proposal in the FY19 operating budget. 

Town of Hampden 
106 Western Avenue 
Hampden, Maine 04444 
 

 

Phone: (207) 862-3034 
Fax:   (207) 862-5067 
Email: 
townmanager@hampdenmaine.gov 

 

townmanager
Typewritten Text
2-e



 
State and Federal Mandates Applicable to Department of Public Works 

 
1) Roads and Public Works 

1. Must maintain public roads. Must keep town ways maintained so as to be safe 
and convenient for motor vehicle travel. 23 M.R.S.A. § 3651 
- Sidewalks. Sidewalks existing within the right-of-way of a town way must be 

maintained against defects. Wells v. Augusta, 135 Me 314(1938) 
- Road obstructions. Must remove loose obstructions, shrubbery and bushes 

(not planted for ornamentation or profit) that pose any road safety problem. 23 
M.R.S.A. § 2702 

- Snow and ice. Must remove snow and ice in the town way within a 
reasonable period of time; this includes removal from state-aid highways. 23 
M.R.S.A. § 1003 

- Private water supplies. Must prevent damage to private water supplies as a 
result of construction, reconstruction or maintenance of public highways. 23 
M.R.S.A. § 3659 

2. Drains, ditches and culverts. Municipalities may install, but discretion may 
become obligation if installation is necessary to maintain road in safe and 
convenient status. Once established, they must be maintained. 23 M.R.S.A. § 
3251; 30-A M.R.S.A. §§ 3401-3409 

3. Driveways and culverts. Municipalities must at owner’s expense install culverts 
where private driveways connect to a town way. Once installed, municipality 
must maintain. 23 M.R.S.A. § 705 

4. Highway defects. Must correct defects in the road where there has been twenty-
four hour notice. 14 M.R.S.A. § 8104-A 

5. Public works. A registered professional engineer is required for any public works 
project exceeding a cost of $100,000.00. 32 M.R.S.A. § 1254 

6. Roads in compact areas. Urban compact municipalities must maintain roads 
within the compact area. 23 M.R.S.A. § 754 

7. Street excavation. Municipalities must serve notice upon owners of property 
abutting a street or highway, and upon others, directing water and conduit 
connections prior to paving and repairing. 23 M.R.S.A. §§ 3351-3360-A 

 
2) Land Use and Environmental Protection 

1. Solid waste disposal. Municipalities must close designated “open landfills” as 
determined by DEP. Closed municipal landfills require biannual groundwater 
testing and monitoring. 42 U.S.C. Chapter 82; 38 M.R.S.A.§§ 1310-C-1310-H-1 

2. Recycling. Must meet recycling goals as set by State. 38 M.R.S.A. §§ 2132-2133 
3. Sewers and drains. Where a public drain has been constructed, and a person 

has paid to connect to it, the municipality must maintain the drain. 30-A M.R.S.A. 
§ 3403 

4. Waste management. Municipalities must provide solid waste disposal services 
for domestic and commercial solid waste generated within the municipality. 38 
M.R.S.A. § 1305. 
- Septage/sludge. Each municipality shall provide for the disposal of all refuse, 

effluent, sludge and any other materials from septic tanks and cesspools. 38 
M.R.S.A. § 1305  



- Transfer stations. For those municipalities having transfer stations, they are 
required to comply with DEP regulations for the operation of transfer stations 
and solid waste storage. 38 M.R.S.A. § 1305; Rules of DEP Chapter 402 

5. Protection and improvement of waters. Municipalities must comply with federal 
law concerning pollutant and effluent controls necessary to manage water 
pollution. 33 U.S.C. Chapter 26; 38 M.R.S.A., Chapter 3 

 
3) Public Safety and Health 

1. Harbor Master. If requested, municipal officers shall appoint a harbor master to 
oversee administration and enforcement of mooring privileges for boats and 
vessels. 38 M.R.S.A. § 1  
- Boats and lighters. Where boats and lighters are used to carry stone, sand or 

gravel, the municipal officers shall appoint an inspector to ensure compliance 
with requirements for marking such boats and lighters. 38 M.R.S.A. § 123 

 
4) Licensing and Permitting and Economic Regulations 

1. Driveway entrances. Municipality must authorize ingress and egress to property 
inside an urban compact municipality on state highways state-aid highways. 23 
M.R.S.A. § 704 

2. Poles and wires. The municipal officers or their designees must issue permits to 
those wishing to construct telephone, electric, or cable TV wires, gas or oil 
pipelines, or water, sewer or steam conduits, along a public way that is a city 
street or town way or a state or state-aid highway in the compact areas as 
defined in 23 M.R.S.A. § 754. 35-A M.R.S.A. §§ 2501-2522 

 
5) Administration and General Government 

1. Burying grounds. Must care for ancient burying grounds and veteran’s graves in 
public burying grounds. 13 M.R.S.A. § 1101 and 30-A M.R.S.A. § 2901 

2. Municipal annual solid waste report. Municipalities must report to DEP any 
material produced by a municipal solid waste processing facility. 38 M.R.S.A. § 
1304-C 

3. Town equipment. Municipalities are liable for their negligent acts or omissions in 
its ownership, maintenance, or use of its equipment, vehicles and machinery. 14 
M.R.S.A. §8104-A  

4. Town buildings. Municipalities are generally liable for their negligent acts or 
omissions in the construction, operation, or maintenance of any public buildings. 
14 M.R.S.A. §8104-A 

 
 
Excerpted from document also covering other municipal functions prepared by Michael 
L. Stultz and the Legal Services Department of Maine Municipal Association, Feb. 2012. 
 
 
 
 



Department Director: Sean Currier



MISSION STATEMENT

The Public Works Department strives to provide 

responsive, courteous  service to the residents of 

Hampden for all services the department 

manages





PUBLIC WORKS – EXISTING AND FUTURE DIRECTION



PUBLIC WORKS – FUTURE DIRECTION CONTINUED



EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT SCHEDULE



PUBLIC WORKS – PROJECTS 

COMPLETED IN FY18
-DITCHED/SHOULDERED ROADS IN PREPARATION OF ROAD PAVING SCHEDULE 

-PAVED 27 ROADS – TOOK ADVANTAGE OF EXTREMELY LOW COST OF HMA 

-SLIPLINED SEVERAL CULVERTS IN TOWN

-ANNUAL GRUB AND POISON IVY PREVENTION

-STORM DRAIN REPAIRS ON RUTH, LIBERTY AND FRANCES DRIVE

-COMPLETE REHAB OF HOPKINS ROAD INCLUDING NEW CATCH BASIN AND STORM DRAIN

-FLUSHED TROUBLE AREAS ON SEWER SYSTEM

-AERATED ATHLETIC FIELDS

-CUT BRUSH ON ROADS TO BE PAVED

-MOWED ALL ROAD SIDES WITH ZLE 1800 

-MOWED ACCESSIBLE CROSS COUNTRY SEWER EASEMENTS

-ADDED CHIPS AND REPLACED TIMBERS SURROUNDING PLAY GROUNDS

-PUBLIC WORKS CREW PLOWED ROADS, SIDEWALKS AND MUNICIPAL PROPERTIES

-RAISED MANHOLES ON RIVERVIEW AND CARVER

-REPLACED MULTIPLE ROAD CROSS CULVERTS

-PUT UP APPROXIMATELY 3500 YDS OF WINTER SAND

-PAINTED CATCH BASINS FOR WINTER IDENTIFICATION

-REPLACED/REPAIRED STREET SIGNS

-REPLACED 160’ OF STORM DRAIN PIPE STORM DRAIN AND CATCH BASIN ON SIDNEY BLVD

-INSTALLED NEW CATCH BASIN AND ASSOCIATED STORM DRAIN PIPING ON OLD COUNTY ROAD



PUBLIC WORKS – FY19 GOALS

- Create/Complete Capital Improvement Plan that is 

obtainable

- Complete New Salt Shed at Public Works

- Review/Modify Current Policies and Ordinances

- Increase Staff Training and Expertise

- Complete Mapping of Sewer and Storm Systems 

- Address Resident Concerns with High Priority items:  

Schoolhouse Lane, Mailboxes, etc.



Public Works Survey

(Including Winter Summer Road Maintenance, paving, buildings grounds maintenance cemetery maintenance)

Public Works Survey Results, 2014

Community Name Population Miles/Rd Miles/Rd # FT # PT # Seasonal Maintain Maintain Maintain Maintain Public Works Paving Excise Tax

(from MMA maintained maintained Employees Employees Employees Sewer Cemeteries Rec Fields Parks Budget Received

13/14 Directory) Summer winter

**Orono 9,947 60 89 11.5 1 1 No Not mowing Assists Yes(7) $1,394,014 $472,500 $620,000

**Caribou 8,043 150 150 18 0 2 No No No No $1,904,182 $320,000 $1,250,000

*Old Town 7,840 77.5 77.5 14 3 5 No Yes (5) Yes (1) Yes (8) $1,433,509 $375,000 $1,150,000

*Farmington 7,489 80 103.8 8 0 2 No Yes (14) No No $1,053,087 $306,000 $820,000

*Rockland 7,385 57 58 13 0 0 Yes Yes(2) Yes(3) Yes(15) $1,550,000 $100,000 $835,000

*Hampden 7,257 56 80 11 0 5 Yes Yes(5) Yes (4) Yes (3) $1,284,859 $239,500 $1,500,000

**Ellsworth 7,741 126 182 12 0 2 No Yes (4) Yes (3) Yes (4) $1,230,000 $400,000 $1,200,000

*Fairfield 6,764 56 64.5 11 1 3 Yes Yes (4) Yes (4) Yes (3) $1,111,116 $220,000 $950,000

  

*Belfast 6,653 63 72 13 3 1 Yes No No No $1,187,655 $400,000 $894,000

  Manager indicated that PW helps out with many departments. I know that is the case for Hampden and assume it is for others as well.

Eliot 6,260 51 77 4 2 1 yes yes (12) no yes (3) $742,368 $465,000

Winslow 7,794 67.5 81 15 1 0 yes No No No $743,744 $200,000

* Identified on survey as road mileage

** Identified on survey as lane miles

Other communities did not signify whether lane miles or road miles  - my error for not being more specific with the question



Public Works Survey

(Including Winter Summer Road Maintenance, paving, buildings grounds maintenance cemetery maintenance)

Public Works Survey Results, 2014

Contracted Services Listed:

Rockland

    Mowing $20,000

    Trucking snow $15,000

Belfast

    Road line striping $22,000

    Uniforms $12,000

Orono

   Pavement marking $20,000

   Cemetery mowing $20,000

 

Caribou

   Donations to cemetery groups $6,900

Eliot

   Guardrail $50,000

   Pavement markings $8,000

   pavement striping $7,000

Farmington

   Cemetery Maintenance $5,280

Source: Sue Lessard, former Town Manager; content included in January 2015 Infrastructure Committee meeting packet.



townmanager
Rectangle



townmanager
Rectangle



 
Cayuga County Request for Qualifications | Professional Services | County Organizational Assessment 
 1 | P a g e  
 

CAYUGA COUNTY, NEW YORK 
REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS 

 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

COUNTY ORGANIZATIONAL ASSESSMENT   
 

FEBRUARY 2017 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

QUALIFICATIONS DUE: MARCH 15, 2017, 3:00PM 



 
Cayuga County Request for Qualifications | Professional Services | County Organizational Assessment 
 2 | P a g e  
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................................. 3 

1.0 BACKGROUND ................................................................................................................................... 3 

2.0 PROGRAM OBJECTIVES ..................................................................................................................... 3 

3.0 INSTRUCTIONS TO VENDORS ............................................................................................................ 4 

3.1 PURPOSE ....................................................................................................................................... 4 

3.2 SUBMISSION OF STATEMENTS OF QUALILFICATIONS .................................................................. 4 

3.3 RESPONSE REQUIREMENTS .......................................................................................................... 4 

4.0 PROJECT TIMELINE ............................................................................................................................ 5 

5.0  COUNTY CRITERIA FOR SELECTING QUALIFIED DESIGN CONSULTANT ............................................ 5 

6.0 GENERAL INFORMATION .................................................................................................................. 6 

 
 
 



 
Cayuga County Request for Qualifications | Professional Services | County Organizational Assessment 
 3 | P a g e  
 

INTRODUCTION 
Cayuga County (the “County”) is soliciting Statement of Qualifications (“SOQ”) submittals for 
professional services associated with a comprehensive assessment and analysis of the County’s 
organizational structure. The County is seeking to identify a qualified consultant team to work with 
County leaders and working groups to explore, define and recommend actionable opportunities for the 
County to streamline, refocus and reorganize our operations. 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
County revenues come from only a few sources: state and federal support, property taxes, fees and 
other discretionary assignments, and sales tax. None of these revenue options promise the potential to 
resolve a challenging budget dynamic which has revenues at or nearly flat. On the expense side, the 
County staff and Legislature have worked diligently over the past several years to streamline and cut 
expenditures. There are not many other ways that the County can reduce costs and fewer yet that are 
within the control of County Government operations. 

The County has looked at internal, intradepartmental operations and successfully combined some 
departments, such as Mental Health and Social Services. While these initiatives have saved money and 
will continue to accrue savings, the County believes the most promising pathway to cost cutting inroads 
will be by looking at fundamental organizational issues: how do we structure our departments and staff 
to conduct public business, where are we unproductively siloed, and where can we combine 
departments and operations to leverage savings through efficiency, economies and synergism?   

2.0 PROGRAM OBJECTIVES 
The Objectives of this Organizational Assessment are several: 

• Examine our current county organizational structure and its efficacy; 

• Identify policies, procedures and other factors that impede productivity and effectiveness; 

• Explore alternative ways to organize through a literature search of best practices and outreach 
to State and National organizations; 

• Identify costs to implement proposed changes and investigate funding resources to support 
recommended transitions; 

• Define and recommend a programmatic structure to promote the investigation of structural 
alternatives; 

• Create, staff and co-lead with County leaders a series of working group sessions to explore, 
define and recommend options for County reorganization; 

• Recommend alternatives which would enable the County to deliver services in the most efficient 
and effective manner as possible and including the reasons and justifications for the 
recommendations; 

• Project immediate and long-term savings in capital and operating costs from implementing 
recommendations; 

• Create a report for distribution with recommendations and provide a roadmap with timelines 
for moving from the current state to realigned state; and 

• Presentation of the report and recommendations to the full County Legislature at a public work 
session of the Legislature. 



 
Cayuga County Request for Qualifications | Professional Services | County Organizational Assessment 
 4 | P a g e  
 

3.0 INSTRUCTIONS TO VENDORS 

3.1 PURPOSE 
The Intent of this Request for Qualifications (“RFQ”) is to allow the County to select a vendor for 
professional consulting services to provide an organizational assessment and operational review of 
Cayuga County Government and undertake the Program Objectives listed in Section 2.0. The County 
intends to award a contract for professional services following identification of a preferred consultant 
through this RFQ process and negotiation of an acceptable fee for service. 

3.2 SUBMISSION OF STATEMENTS OF QUALILFICATIONS 
Five (5) copies of the Statement of Qualifications (“SOQ”) and an electronic PDF of the full SOQ, inclusive 
of all information required under Section 3.3 “Response Requirements” should be provided. SOQs must 
be provided to the Cayuga County Clerk of the Legislature. SOQs sent via mail, UPS, Federal Express or 
Hand Delivered should be addressed: 

Cayuga County Clerk of the Legislature 
Cayuga County Office Building, 6th Floor 
160 Genesee Street 
Auburn, NY 13021 

All SOQ submissions will be opened on _____________________ at 3:00 PM. Any SOQs received in 
response to the RFQ after said opening, whether by mail or otherwise, will be returned unopened. SOQ 
submissions should be provided in a sealed envelope with the title “RFQ CAYUGA COUNTY 
ORGANIZATIONAL ASSESSMENT” clearly marked on the outside. It is recommended that each SOQ 
submission package be hand delivered. The County assumes no responsibility for delays in any form of 
carrier, mail or delivery service causing the response to be received after the above-referenced date and 
time. Submission by fax, telephone or email is NOT PERMITTED. 

The Cayuga County Legislature shall make final selection of vendor by formal resolution. 

3.3 RESPONSE REQUIREMENTS 
Your response should detail your qualifications to provide the services and achieve the county objectives 
described in the RFQ. Vendors responding to this RFQ should have at least five (5) years’ experience with 
providing consulting services in areas of management assessment and operational reviews for both 
public and private sector organizations, with preference given to vendors with both private and public 
experience. 

To assure consistency, responses must conform to the following format: 

3.3.1 FIRM AND PROJECT TEAM INFORMATION 

a. Name of Firm 

b. Name of Proposed Manager for Professional Services 

c. Date Present and Predecessor Firms were established 

d. Name of Principal-In-Charge of the Professional Services Relationship 

e. Provide an Organizational Chart of Individuals/Disciplines that will be assigned to 
provide professional services 

f. Provide Resumes of the primary personnel who will be assigned to provide 
professional services; must be consistent with Organizational Chart provided in 3.3.6 
above 



 
Cayuga County Request for Qualifications | Professional Services | County Organizational Assessment 
 5 | P a g e  
 

3.3.2 EXAMPLES OF RECENT PUBLIC & PRIVATE SECTOR CONSULTING ENGAGEMENTS 
Vendors shall provide three (3) examples of recent Public and Private sector consulting engagements. 
Each example shall include: 

a. The client name and contact information for individual directly involved in the 
consulting engagement 

b. Scope of engagement 

c. Deliverables provided as part of engagement 

d. Information pertaining to the implementation of any recommendations and if 
implementation was led by the consultant 

e. Success of engagement; benefits recognized 

 
4.0 PROJECT TIMELINE 
The County has established the following timeline for this RFQ: 
  

February 15, 2017 RFQ released 
March 15 2017, 3:00pm  SOQs due  
March 16th – 22nd, 2017 Ranking of finalists  
March 27th – 31st, 2017 Finalist interviews  
April 3, 2017  Notification of Award Intent & Negotiation of Contract 
April 25, 2017  Legislative Approval of Contract Execution   
April 26, 2017 Notice to Proceed 

 
5.0  COUNTY CRITERIA FOR SELECTING QUALIFIED DESIGN CONSULTANT 
The County has organized a 5-7-member RFQ Review Committee including members of the County 
Legislature and certain senior staff. The RFQ Review Committee will review all complete submissions, 
conduct firm interviews and make a recommendation to the County Legislature on a preferred firm. 

The County has established the following criteria which the RFQ Review Committee will utilize in 
evaluating and selecting a qualified design consultant for this project: 

5.1 Prior Similar Experience (15%)  
a. Consultant’s experience on similar, public and private sector engagements best 

illustrating current qualifications for the work contemplated under this RFQ. 

5.2 Past Performance (30%)  
a. Consultant’s track record for delivering actionable recommendations and 

documentation that implementation of organizational and restructuring 
recommendations were successfully undertaken and resulted in the outcomes identified 
by the Consultant 

b. Documentation of the Consultant Team’s ability to interact with key stakeholders and 
conduct interviews with employees and focus groups to develop a detailed 
understanding of organizational operations, staffing, relevant inter-departmental 
activities and information flow. 

c. Management ability to meet project schedules, milestones and deliverables. 



 
Cayuga County Request for Qualifications | Professional Services | County Organizational Assessment 
 6 | P a g e  
 

5.3 Approach to Program Design of Organizational Assessment and Analysis (35%)  
a. The County is seeking to understand the consultant’s fundamental approach to the 

comprehensive organizational assessment and analysis, including but not limited to: 
i. Approach / methodology for Management Analysis and Staffing Review; 

ii. Approach to Organizational Realignment and Redesign; 
iii. Approach to Evaluating County Project Implementation and Appraising Workflow; 
iv. Approach to Process Improvement; and 
v. Approach to Estimating Potential Cost Savings and Costs for Implementation. 

5.4 Project Team Member Qualifications (20%)  
a. Identity, experience and qualifications of the persons and/or subcontractors who will be 

assigned to provide the professional services. 
b. Involvement of persons assigned to provide professional services in representative 

projects listed in the consultant’s experience and alignment of skills to the anticipated 
work. 

All evaluation criteria will be used to review the qualifications of persons or firms who will be employed 
by the consultant. The County reserves the right to reject the use of any consultant or subcontractor and 
require the successful applicant to substitute a consultant or subcontractor reasonably acceptable to the 
County. 

 
6.0 GENERAL INFORMATION 

6.1 Questions concerning this RFQ must be submitted in writing to: Keith Batman, Chair, Cayuga 
County Legislature, Cayuga County Office Building, 6th Floor, 160 Genesee Street, Auburn, NY 
13021, email: kbatman@cayugacounty.us.  Questions may be delivered or emailed. Written 
responses will be mailed or emailed to all proposers on record as having received the RFQ. 

6.2 The County may cancel this RFQ, or reject in whole or in part any and all SOQ Proposals, if the 
County determines that cancellation or rejection serves the best interests of the County. 

6.3 The Statement of Qualifications Proposal must be signed as follows: 

1) If the Consultant is an individual, by him/her personally; 

2) If the Consultant is a partnership, by the name of the partnership, followed by the 
signature of each general partner; or  

3) If the Consultant is a corporation, by the authorized officer. 

6.4 Consultants must bear all costs associated with their SOQ proposals including preparation, 
copying, postage and delivery costs. The County will not be responsible for any costs or 
expenses incurred by firms responding to this RFQ. 

mailto:kbatman@cayugacounty.us


 
 
TO:  Infrastructure Committee 

FROM: Angus Jennings, Town Manager 

DATE:  February 23, 2018 

RE:  Recommended FY18 Sewer Budget Amendments 
 

 

As you know, the approved FY18 Sewer Budget (attached) authorized expenses that 
were $73,512 less than projected FY18 revenues.  
 
     Budgeted   

Sewer expenses:   $1,059,611   
Sewer revenues:   $1,133,122    

 
At its June 26, 2017 meeting, shortly after adoption of the Budget, the Committee 
discussed these funds as potentially being made available toward the Grist Mill Bridge 
costs. Since that time, new sewer financial expenses have become clear. 
 
In order to authorize FY18 expenditures greater than the approved expense budget, I 
recommend that the Infrastructure Committee refer to the Finance Committee a 
recommendation for Council approval of a FY18 Budget Amendment to:  
 

Increase budgeted expenses by $73,500 to authorize expenditure of revenues 
projected in FY18 but not included in expense budget, for the purpose of 
supporting engineering services for sewer capital projects, support for creating a 
sewer Fiscal Sustainability Plan and/or Asset Management Plan, and dedication 
of funds toward a sewer reserve 

 
(For further detail on why I am recommending a Fiscal Sustainability Plan, see Item 3.c 
in this meeting packet). 
 
In addition to the FY18 Sewer Net Operating Income projected at the time of budget 
adoption in June 2017, additional revenues are now projected in FY18 as a result of 
sewer connection fees expected to be received in FY18 but that were not included in 
the approved revenue budget.  
 
In order to authorize expenditure of those funds in FY18, I recommend that the 
Infrastructure Committee refer to the Finance Committee a recommendation for Council 
approval of a FY18 Budget Amendment to:  
 

Increase budgeted revenues in the 60-79 revenue line to reflect anticipated 
collection of $53,305 in unbudgeted sewer connection fees; and to  
 

Town of Hampden 
106 Western Avenue 
Hampden, Maine 04444 
 

 

Phone: (207) 862-3034 
Fax:   (207) 862-5067 
Email: 
townmanager@hampdenmaine.gov 

 

townmanager
Typewritten Text
3-a



Increase budgeted expenses by $53,305 to authorize expenditure of revenues 
projected to be generated in FY18 but not included in approved expense budget, 
for the purpose of supporting mitigation of anticipated Fiberight/Coastal flow 
impacts on existing infrastructure, and engineering services for other sewer 
projects 

 
The plan is to utilize some of the funds to rectify a manhole where the Fiberight/Coastal 
system ultimately ties to the Town sewer interceptor on Main Road North:  
 

 
 
With the introduction of a significant sized force main, the manhole will need some 
revisions to accept the fast moving flow to prevent a hydraulic vortex in the manhole 
thus potentially causing a sewer overflow.  
 
In April 2016 Director Currier identified this issue and recommended that the angle be 
reduced prior the entering the interceptor. Currently, the sewer main exits the manhole 
on the interceptor up above the shelf and would essentially end up shooting directly 
across to hit the wall on the other side of the manhole before dropping down on the 
reduced opening to the interceptor. He suggested a dog house manhole on the 
downstream side of the existing and another manhole installed on the main to ease the 
angle. 
 
Although we've been aware of this issue for some time we do not have budgeted funds 
to fix the problem. The recommended budget amendment will allow the connection fee 
revenues to make this related improvement. 



Approved FY18 Sewer Budget

Town of Hampden
June 19, 2017

Approved FY18 Sewer Budget, Town of Hampden

Incurred Incurred Budget YTD Percent Budget Change Budget Notes
FY15 FY16 FY17 FY17 FY18 FY17 to FY18 FY18

thru 6/1/17 91.5% of year June 19, 2017

Sewer Expense Budget
60 - SEWER
    10 - FUND 2
        01 - COMPENSATION

            05 - WAGES $60,000 $60,000 $60,000 60,000$                100% $60,000 $0
Appropriation for contribution to public works/admin 

salary offset.
        10 - SUPPLIES
            01 - SUPPLIES/OFFICE $5 $0 $0 $0 $0

            05 - POSTAGE/SHIPPING $6,389 $7,370 $6,000 $5,640 94% $8,000 $2,000 Cost of sewer billing printing & postage 4 times per year.

            20 - SUPPLIES/MATERIALS $6,752 $5,849 $10,000 10,769$         108% $3,490 ($6,510)

Pump station or line repair supplies: 6 sewer manhole 

castings; bricks, mortar, etc.; riser rings. (Removes cost of 

meter readings, budgeted elsewhere).

            99 - MISC. $0 $0 $2,400 3,835$           160% $3,320 $920

Jet truck nozzles ($1,500); Dye testing packets ($110); Tiger 

tales for jet truck ($110); grade stakes ($150); spoon to 

clean inverts ($450); Trio software ($1,000).
        15 - UTILITIES

            05 - ELECTRICITY $33,811 $37,055 $36,000 31,836$         88% $30,400 ($5,600)

Electric charges for pump stations. Includes new pump 

station for MRC, partial year. Reduced per Maine Power 

Options estimate.

            10 - FUEL $7,602 $8,864 $7,000 217$              3% $3,000 ($4,000)
Fuel costs for pump stations. (FY17 included cost of meter 

readings).
        20 - MAINTENANCE/REPAIRS

            53 - Repair $0 $21,629 $52,000 -$               0% $5,500 ($46,500)

Repair costs for pump stations and sewer lines. Includes 

manhole repair on Dewey St ($500) and misc. pump station 

upgrades ($5k).
        30 - PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

            02 - PROF SVCS/METER READINGS -$               $8,000 $8,000 Expense unchanged. Proposed here instead of 60-10-10-20.

            37 - PROF SVCS/LICENSE FEES $0 1,532$           $7,720 $7,720

License fees to State Treasurer ($475., removed from 60-10-

10-20). Trio service ($750., paid in FY17 from 60-10-10-99). 

$2,700 to Bangor for Industrial Pretreatment Program 

Admin fee (paid out of 60-10-60-04 in FY17); Annual report 

fee ($180); Trio annual software costs ($1,135); Annual rent 

to Maine Central Railroad, due September ($2,480).

            40 - LIENS/TRANSFERS $3,972 $8,961 $5,600 3,641$           65% $5,600 $0 Cost of lien placement and discharge for sewer liens. 

            80 - TRAINING / TRAVEL $2,800 $2,800
New sewer employee training incl. collection system 

certification course.
        60 - SEWER EXPENSES

            02 - TREATMENT SERVICE CHARGE 249,993.84$   $128,762 $262,494 108,035$       41% $163,010 ($99,484)
Projected sewer treatment charges by City of Bangor. Prior 

three years' monthly cost average x 12.

www.hampdenmaine.gov/budget

www.hampdenmaine.gov/sewer 1 of 3



Approved FY18 Sewer Budget

Town of Hampden
June 19, 2017

Approved FY18 Sewer Budget, Town of Hampden

Incurred Incurred Budget YTD Percent Budget Change Budget Notes
FY15 FY16 FY17 FY17 FY18 FY17 to FY18 FY18

thru 6/1/17 91.5% of year June 19, 2017

            04 - PUMP STATION MAINT. 48,012.52$     $64,450 $43,878 55,648$         127% $59,003 $15,125

Cost of contracted pump station maintenance services by 

Bangor. Based on avg. invoice prior 12 months. Increased 

by one pump station, 1/4 year, for new pump station 

(MRC).

            10 - O&M CONTINGENCY $2,509 $5,000 0% $5,000 $0
Small projects that are above and beyond the routine 

repair costs. TBD based on CIP.

            16 - PRINC/INT FMHA $371,109 $380,193 $381,465 394,980$       104% $458,969 $75,833
Total debt service includes all six financing obligations 

(below).

1997 State Revolving Loan Fund $96,217 Bond will be paid off in FY18.

2009 1A Sewer Project $103,669 Bond will be paid off in FY26.
2014 1A Sewer & Pump Station $68,594 Bond will be paid off in FY35.

2006 Sewer Bond $108,526 Bond will be paid off in FY30.

2017 The First (overdue bills) $40,543 Loan will be paid off in FY24.

2017 Bangor WWTP $41,420 Loan will be paid off in FY24.

            19 - INTERFUND (TO GF) $0 $100,000 100,000$       100% $100,000
Second year of multi-year payback. (Current amount owed: 

$801,570; projected year-end FY17, $651,570).

            22 - SPECIAL PROJ $0 $0 $15,500 16,372$         106% $135,000 $119,500

Easement clearing ($20k); CCTV for defect investigation 

($60k); Seal CSO tank joints ($30k); Flushing/Cleaning ($5k); 

GIS Mapping ($5,000); Engineering Svcs ($20k).

            24 - SEWER FLUSHER REPAIRS $0 $0 $0 $0
            26 - SEWER LEGAL & BOND COUNSEL $0 $0 4,873$           $800 $800 FY17 costs paid from 60-10-30-40.

$787,647 $725,643 $987,337 $797,377 81% $1,059,611 $72,273

www.hampdenmaine.gov/budget

www.hampdenmaine.gov/sewer 2 of 3



Approved FY18 Sewer Budget

Town of Hampden
June 19, 2017

Approved FY18 Sewer Budget, Town of Hampden

Incurred Incurred Budget YTD Percent Budget Change Budget Notes
FY15 FY16 FY17 FY17 FY18 FY17 to FY18 FY18

thru 6/1/17 91.5% of year June 19, 2017

Sewer Revenue Budget
60 - SEWER

    01 - SEWER BILLS $546,133 $542,518 $943,845 $941,240 99.7% $1,124,086 $180,241
Projection based on sewer rates approved 5/15/17 ($11.60 

per 100 CF) to take effect 6/15/17.

    03 - INTEREST ON SEWER BILLS $1,924 $1,784 $1,735 $2,340 135% $2,400 $665
    05 - INTEREST/COSTS ON SEWER LIENS $9,697 $8,832 $9,050 $5,465 60% $7,219 ($1,831)
    08 - ABATEMENTS ($14,003) ($383) $0 ($4,377) ($4,500) ($4,500)
    23 - INTEREST EARNED $1,234 $87 $1,230 $586 48% $781 ($449)
    24 - CONSTRUCTION INTEREST $541 $210 $0 $5 $5
    60 - SEWER - DEBIT CARD $4 ($122) $0 ($287) ($348) ($348)
    79 - MISC SEWER INCOME $0 $64 $0 $1,369 $0 $0 Potential grant proceeds (not budgeted).
    TBD - INDUSTRIAL USER SURCHARGE $0 $3,479 $3,479 Supplemental charge to Fiberight (1/4 year).

Final Totals $545,530 $552,989 $955,860 $946,336 99.0% $1,133,122 $177,262

Prior Surplus / (Deficit) ($242,117) ($172,654)

Projected Surplus / (Deficit) ($31,477)

Projected Surplus / (Deficit) $73,512

www.hampdenmaine.gov/budget

www.hampdenmaine.gov/sewer 3 of 3



townmanager
Typewritten Text
3-b



















  
 
TO:  Infrastructure Committee 

FROM: Angus Jennings, Town Manager 

DATE:  February 23, 2018 

RE:  Fiscal Sustainability Plan required for SRF eligibility 
 

 

As you know, newly identified sewer capital needs are driving the urgency of identifying 
optimal project financing.1 State Revolving Loan Fund (SRF) financing through MMBB 
has supported three recent Hampden sewer capital projects: 
 

Project  Loan    Issued   Amount 
2014 Sewer  Hampden - 2014A  05/22/2014  $902,050  
2006 Sewer   Hampden - 2006C   10/26/2006  $1,500,000  
1996 Sewer  Hampden - 1997A  (matured 10/2017) $1,500,000 

 
Program participation requires loan recipients to implement, maintain and update, at 
least annually, a Fiscal Sustainability Plan (FSP). This requirement took effect on 
October 1, 2014 – very soon after financing for Hampden’s last SRF loan closed.  
 
A FSP would satisfy our requirements under Town Charter to prepare and annually 
update a Sewer Capital Program. If scoped properly, we have also verified that it can 
serve as a CSO Master Plan which would greatly advance Hampden’s regulatory 
compliance (and which we have previously pursued grant funding to prepare). 
 
Because it will both satisfy several requirements, and will in fact be helpful to 
responsible financial and operational management of the sewer, I recommend that the 
Town of Hampden’s interests will be best served by adopting an FSP.  
 
If the Council will make a commitment to finance this effort, it would allow us to 
submit the required “2018 CWSRF Information Request Form for Infrastructure 
(Construction) Projects” which is due to DEP on March 30, 2018. Specifically, I am 
recommending referral of certain budget amendments elsewhere on tonight’s agenda 
which, if approved, will provide the resources necessary to proceed. 
 
These Council actions will allow the Town to pursue the best available financing terms 
for the sewer capital projects seeking voter authorization this June. 

                                            
1 Detail in February 20, 2018 Finance Committee packet online here. 

Town of Hampden 
106 Western Avenue 
Hampden, Maine 04444 
 

 

Phone: (207) 862-3034 
Fax:   (207) 862-5067 
Email: 
townmanager@hampdenmaine.gov 

 

http://www.hampdenmaine.gov/vertical/sites/%7B1FCAF0C4-5C5E-476D-A92E-1BED5B1F9E05%7D/uploads/Finance__Admin_Agenda__Packet_for_2-20-2018(1).pdf
townmanager
Typewritten Text
3-c



 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 4 
 

Clean Water State Revolving Fund (CWSRF) 

Requirements and Guidance 

for a 

Fiscal Sustainability Plan (FSP) 
 

DEPLW1274-C-2018 

 

 

Maine CWSRF Fiscal Sustainability Plan Requirements 
 

Starting October 1, 2014, a Fiscal Sustainability Plan (FSP)7 will be required of loan recipients 

for a project that involves the repair, replacement, or expansion of a treatment works.8 The FSP 

shall be documented in writing, with some components of the plan likely utilizing computerized 

asset management software.9 The FSP shall be made available to Maine DEP staff for inspection at 

the loan recipient’s office upon request.  Loan recipients shall implement, maintain and update 

the plan as appropriate, at least annually. 

 

Early in the loan process and prior to the loan commitment date, the Department will consult with 

the loan applicant to establish the assets and planning area to be covered by the FSP.  At a 

minimum, the planning area will cover the project being funded and similar assets.  For example, 

if the project is for the upgrade to a pumping station, the FSP planning area would include all 

pumping stations on a larger system and might include other assets like the sewers on a smaller 

system.  The scope of the FSP will be determined by the Department with input from the loan 

recipient and agreed upon prior to loan commitment. 

 

If the loan recipient has previously developed an FSP meeting the CWSRF program minimum 

requirements listed below, the loan recipient shall certify that an FSP has been implemented and 

meets CWSRF program requirements prior to the loan closing date. The Fiscal Sustainability Plan 

Certification form (a copy of which can be found in Appendix A) states that the loan recipient 

certifies that the FSP has been implemented, as specified, and meets the federal statutory 
                                                      
7 FSPs are now required due to the passage of Federal Public Law 113-121, that amended Section 603(d)(1)(E) of the 
Federal Water Pollution Control Act. 
8 This requirement does not apply to a loan if, prior to this date, the project was listed on a CWSRF Intended Use Plan or 
the loan recipient submitted an application for CWSRF funding assistance. 
9  There are many commercially available asset management software programs.  Programs should be selected based on 
specific facility needs.  EPA has a free asset management program (CUPSS) designed for small facilities (less than 1,000 
connections).  It is available free of charge at http://www.epa.gov/cupss/index.html.  Please contact the Maine DEP 
CWSRF program for information about free training resources for CUPSS. 



 

 
Maine DEP 38 
CWSRF Requirements and Guidance for a FSP 
DEPLW1274-C-2018 

 

requirements.  If the loan recipient has not previously developed an FSP meeting the minimum 

requirements, the loan documents will require the recipient to develop and implement the FSP and 

complete the FSP certification form. The allotted time to implement and certify the FSP shall be 

determined by Maine DEP on a case-by-case basis, but prior to the final disbursement of loan 

funds. 

 

The costs to develop and implement the FSP, including the purchase of computerized asset 

management software, staff training or the use of consultant services, are eligible expenses for 

CWSRF loan reimbursement. 

 

 

The CWSRF Fiscal Sustainability Plan shall contain: 

 

1. Inventory of assets.  The FSP shall include an inventory of all critical assets10 located in 

the FSP plan area.  At a minimum, this will include: type of asset, installation date, 

estimated useful life, condition, and service history. 

 

2. Evaluation and Prioritization of Assets.  The plan shall include a system to evaluate the 

condition and performance and to prioritize the assets.  This system should consider, at a 

minimum, the following asset characteristics: age, condition, service history, remaining 

useful life, importance to the protection of public health and/or water quality, importance 

to the operation of the system, and asset redundancy or lack thereof. 

 

3. Evaluation of Water and Energy Conservation Efforts. Loan recipients shall certify 

that they have evaluated and will be implementing water and energy conservation efforts 

as part of the FSP.  The evaluation of any projects identified in the FSP shall take into 

consideration water and energy conservation efforts.  (Appendix B contains the Water 

and Energy Conservation Certification and Appendix C contains EPA’s Guidance on 

Evaluation and Implementation of Water and Energy Conservation Efforts.  Note: Some 

of the water and energy conservation efforts listed in the guidance might not be applicable 

to the FSP plan area defined by the Maine DEP.) 

 

4. Asset Management and Funding Plan.  The FSP shall include a plan and schedule for 

the maintenance, rehabilitation and/or replacement of assets and a plan for funding the 

activities.  At a minimum, this should include the project descriptions, costs, timeframes, 

and potential funding sources. (See Maine CWSRF FSP Guidance below and Appendix D 

for a Capital Improvement Plan Example) 

 

 

  

                                                      
10 Critical assets to be included in the plan will depend on the complexity of the system and the type of assets and be 
established prior to loan commitment. Maine DEP will determine the appropriate information required in the FSP and the 
plan area on a case-by-case basis, with input from the loan recipient. 



 

 
Maine DEP 39 
CWSRF Requirements and Guidance for a FSP 
DEPLW1274-C-2018 

 

Maine CWSRF Fiscal Sustainability Plan Guidance 

 

The following guidance was developed by Maine DEP to assist the loan recipient in the 

development and implementation of a Fiscal Sustainability Plan. 

 

Fiscal Sustainability Planning is a process similar to asset management planning that allows the 

loan recipient to get the most value from each asset and have the financial resources to continually 

provide established levels of service.  In addition to the asset management components of 

inventorying, evaluating, and ranking critical assets; the FSP also looks at evaluating and 

implementing water and energy conservation efforts and developing a plan for funding the 

activities of the asset management plan.  The FSP should be coordinated with the loan recipient’s 

overall master planning documents and any other applicable studies, audits, and evaluations. 

Recommendations or findings in documents that could influence asset prioritization or plan 

scheduling may include: future treatment capacity needs, current and future permit compliance, 

excessive inflow and infiltration, operational inefficiency and shortfalls, safety concerns, and 

coordination with other scheduled utility and infrastructure maintenance. 

 

Time and resources will be required to develop and implement the principles of fiscal 

sustainability planning.  Fiscal sustainability planning needs to become an integral part of the 

organization’s philosophy. Successful fiscal sustainability planning includes input and acceptance 

by the staff responsible for managing, operating, and maintaining the assets.  

 

Successful fiscal sustainability planning will require the loan recipient to: 

 

• Establish achievable level of service goals. 

• Understand the assets available to achieve these goals. 

• Identify areas of improvement. 

• Determine the FSP scope of work. 

• Create a plan to achieve specified goals. 

 

Level of Service is essentially a benchmark used to establish performance goals.  Levels of 

service may be based on user needs or desires, regulatory requirements, internal goals or other 

performance goals. Fiscal sustainability planning allows the loan recipient to create a consistent 

path toward reaching level of service goals, as well as a way to measure progress along the way. 

 

FSP Team - Creating an FSP team is a good way to start the FSP discussion, establish the level of 

service goals, and help identify information and resources needed to develop and implement the 

FSP. By establishing an FSP team with a diverse background of skills and knowledge, a more 

complete and accurate plan can be developed in a timely manner. An FSP team ideally will consist 

of facility managers, decision-makers, operations and maintenance staff, financial and 

administrative staff, and consultants, as needed. Depending on the complexity of the system, the 

size of the staff, the resources available and the scope of the plan, the team may be smaller or 

larger, but it should at a minimum cover the knowledge areas necessary to develop an FSP that can 

achieve the desired level of service goals.  



 

 
Maine DEP 40 
CWSRF Requirements and Guidance for a FSP 
DEPLW1274-C-2018 

 

Asset Condition Assessment - One of the key steps to developing an FSP is to understand the 

condition of the system’s assets. By identifying the condition of the assets, the loan recipient has 

the ability to evaluate them, either in comparison to similar assets or to standard performance 

expectations. A simple way to characterize and evaluate assets is to create an asset condition 

assessment system. An asset condition assessment system is a set of criteria created to consistently 

evaluate assets. The loan recipient assigns values or phrases to the assets with the understanding 

that those values or phrases have a pre-established meaning. By defining what these values or 

phases mean, the owner can consistently evaluate their assets. There are a variety of ways to define 

the condition of the system’s assets. Many computerized asset management software programs 

provide loan recipients the ability to select from multiple values and/or phrases that are assigned a 

specific weight during the asset prioritization portion of the FSP. It is left up to the loan recipient to 

determine what the values and phrases mean and when they should be assigned. Maine DEP 

recommends that the FSP team should determine which criteria it wants to record and what the 

conditions assigned to the assets mean before compiling an inventory of the assets to be managed. 

 

FSP Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) – Proper management of the FSP will require a strategy 

for funding the recommended asset maintenance and replacement plan and schedule. A Capital 

Improvement Plan (CIP) is a tool commonly used by various organizations to outline when asset 

rehabilitation or replacement projects should take place and the amount of funds needed to 

accomplish them. A CIP is especially useful when proposing projects to a board, the ratepayers, or 

local government officials and may already be a requirement. The CIP helps demonstrate the 

organization’s needs in a concise and non-technical format and helps decision-makers make better 

planning and financial decisions into the future.  The CIP should capture, at a minimum, the FSP 

goals and funding requirements.  An example CIP is included in Appendix D. 
 

FSP Maintenance –It will not be enough to simply make an FSP and put it on the shelf.  FSPs are 

considered “living documents” in the sense that they should be updated regularly to capture 

physical, organizational and financial changes. Whether it is an emergency repair, a new 

regulatory requirement, retirement of an asset, ratepayers’ concern or changes in available 

funding, the CIP should reflect those changes as well.  In addition, if the planning area of the 

initial FSP does not include the entire wastewater system, the planning area should evolve and 

expand over time to include the entire system. 

 

  



State of Maine 

Clean Water State Revolving Fund 

 

 

1 of 6 

2018 CWSRF Information Request Form 

for Infrastructure (Construction) Projects 

DEADLINE FOR SUBMITTAL:  5:00 PM, March 30, 2018 

This information request is to be completed by loan applicants that are requesting 

financial assistance for an infrastructure (construction) project. 

To properly evaluate and rank infrastructure projects for potential CWSRF funding and possible loan principal 

forgiveness (PF), the Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) needs specific information submitted on the 

project. A separate Project Information Request Form should be completed for each project, e.g. treatment plant 

upgrades or collection system upgrades.  The completed form(s) must be e-mailed to Brandy M. Piers, 

brandy.m.piers@maine.gov, by 5:00 p.m. March 30, 2018.  If you have any questions regarding the submittal 

process, please contact Brandy Piers at 287-6093 or John True at 287-7808. 

 

Name of Applicant:       

Project Name:       

Name and title of contact person for applicant:        

Address:       

Town:       State:       Zip Code:       

Email:       Telephone:       

Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) for applicant, if known:        

 

If an Engineering Firm has been selected, please state the firm’s name and project manager. 

 

Name of Engineering Firm, if selected:       

Name and title of engineer contact:       

Address:       

Town:       State:       Zip Code:       

Email:       Telephone:       

 

Approximate Timeline: Preliminary Design:       Bidding:       

 Final Design:       Construction Start:       

 

 I certify that I am knowledgeable of the projects included in these forms and have provided 

information that is accurate, truthful and complete. 

 

Title and Name:        Date:        

 

Signature:      ______________________ 

mailto:brandy.m.piers@maine.gov


 

2 of 6 

Section 1 – Applicant Financial Information: 

(To be considered for Affordability Principal Forgiveness, Applicants must complete Section 1 and 

submit it along with the attached CWSRF User Rate Calculator as part of the Information Request 

Form.)   

 

The Department wants to consider the financial impact of borrowing the CWSRF funds for the proposed 

project on future sewer user rates.  To do this the Department has adopted a standard method for 

assessing this impact using Equivalent Dwelling Units (EDUs), sometimes referred to as Equivalent 

Domestic Units by other funding agencies.  The attached CWSRF Rate Calculator is a standardized 

method to accomplish this. The Department recognizes that the Calculator makes certain assumptions 

and might not capture all the pertinent information to establish future rates. 

 

The percentage of affordability PF offered will be based on the Affordability Criteria and Analysis 

presented in “Attachment 1”, and the availability of funds.  In addition to the Future Sewer User Rate 

and Median Household Income data collected, the Department will use the public information sites to 

collect the additional data that is needed for the criteria of Poverty Rate, Unemployment and Population 

Trends. 

A. Current Equivalent Dwelling Unit (EDU) sewer user rate ($/yr.):  $       per year. 

(located on line 17 of the CWSRF User Rate Calculator) 

B. Estimated Future Equivalent Dwelling Unit (EDU) sewer user rate ($/yr.):  $       per year. 

(located on line 32 of the CWSRF User Rate Calculator) 

C. Service Area Median Household Income (MHI):       

(Include MHI Data from the community.  When available, the income data presented to the 

Department shall be prioritized in this order: 

1) A State approved system-wide income survey that was finalized within the past three 

years; 

If the applicant’s MHI data is from an approved system-wide income survey, identify 

the organization that conducted the survey and the date it was finalized. 

      

2) Census Designated Place (CDP) data, if the sewered area closely approximates the CDP 

area; then 

3) Town data. 

CDP and town data shall be from the U.S. Census Bureau – American FactFinder 

http://factfinder.census.gov/faces/nav/jsf/pages/index.xhtml 

American Community Survey Use 5-year MHI estimates.  See “Attachment 1” for details. 

The U.S. Census Bureau has an application on its website that lets you see the CDP boundaries 

without needing any GIS expertise: http://tigerweb.geo.census.gov/tigerweb/.  Zoom into a small 

portion of the state at a time and select the “Places and County Subdivisions” checkbox to see 

the CDP boundaries.) 

 

http://factfinder.census.gov/faces/nav/jsf/pages/index.xhtml
http://tigerweb.geo.census.gov/tigerweb/


 

3 of 6 

 

D. Loan Commitment Date:  To receive any offer of loan principal forgiveness the 

applicant must enter a binding loan commitment (closing date) with the Maine 

Municipal Bond Bank (MMBB) by September 30, 2019. Any loan commitment made 

after September 30, 2019 will not receive loan principal forgiveness. Is the applicant 

prepared to enter a loan commitment with the MMBB by September 30, 2019? 

  Yes  No 

 

E. Affordability Principal Forgiveness Availability:  Assuming the applicant does not 

qualify for 100% principal forgiveness or there are insufficient PF funds to cover 

100% of the project costs, is the applicant willing to borrow some or all the cost of 

the project at an interest rate 2% less than the AAA tax exempt bond rate, minimum 

rate of 1.0%? 

  Yes  No 

 

Section 2 – Climate Adaptation and Fiscal Sustainability Plans: 
(Please indicate if you are interested in CAP and/or FSP funding, pending availability.) 

 

A. Climate Adaptation Plan (CAP):  The Department is offering up to $20,000 in 

additional loan PF to borrowers that want to develop a CAP and have not previously 

received funding from the Department for a CAP.  For CAPs developed in 

accordance with the Department’s minimum requirements1, up to $20,000 of 

additional loan in the form of principal forgiveness is available per borrower.  See 

Attachment 3 for information on CAPs.  If you are interested in up to $20,000 in 

additional loan principal forgiveness as outlined above, please indicate so and state 

the amount you are interested in. 

  Yes 

CAP amount requested (up to $20,000) is $       

  No 

 

B. Fiscal Sustainability Plan (FSP):  The Department is offering up to $50,000 in 

additional loan principal forgiveness for the development and implementation of a 

fiscal sustainability plan or for the improvement or update to an existing plan.  This 

offer requires a 100% match from the borrower, either through expenditures or in-

kind services.  The match is an eligible CWSRF expense and may be added to the 

loan amount, if desired.  For FSPs developed in accordance with the Department’s 

minimum requirements2 or for the improvement or update to an existing plan, 50% of 

the eligible costs would be in the form of principal forgiveness, up to a maximum of 

$50,000 per borrower.  See Attachment 4 for information on FSPs.  If you are 

interested in up to $50,000 in additional loan principal forgiveness as outlined above, 

please indicate so and state the amount you are interested in. 

  Yes 

FSP amount requested (up to $50,000) is $       

  No 

                                                           
1 CWSRF Requirements and Guidance for a Climate Adaptation Plan (CAP), DEPLW1278-B-2018 
2 CWSRF Requirements and Guidance for a Fiscal Sustainability Plan (FSP), DEPLW1274-C-2018 



 

4 of 6 

Section 3 – Project Specific Financial: 
(A separate Project Information Request form should be completed for each project, e.g. treatment 

plant upgrades or collection system upgrades.)  

 

A. Co-funding:  If this project is co-funded with another agency (other than CWSRF), list agencies 

involved, amount of funding and indicate the status of other funding commitments.  Agency has 

contacted and verbal agreement, funds obligated, loan or grant agreement in place, etc. 

(Agencies include, although not limited to: MDOT, CDBG, State Grant, RD, EDI, FEMA, 

DWSRF, etc.) 

 

Agency Loan ($) Grant ($) Committed? 

                   Yes  No 

                   Yes  No 

                   Yes  No 

                   Yes  No 

Total Other Agency Funding $           

 

 

B. Project Cost: (Note:  Total Project Cost does not include the principal forgiveness that may 

be offered for FSP or CAP development, Sections 2. A. & B. above.) 

 

Total Project Cost Breakdown: 

1. Construction: (Include the name of each contract)  

        Contract 1       $       

        Contract 2       $       

        Contract 3       $       

2. Preliminary Expenses $       

3. Land & Rights (Generally CWSRF ineligible)  $       

4. Legal and Administration (Including cost of bond issuance) $       

5. Engineering  

        Administration $       

        Design $       

        Inspections $       

        Other services:       $       

6. Equipment and Miscellaneous $       

7. Contingency (if not included above) $       

8. Total Estimated Project Cost (lines 1 thru 7) $       

9. Total Other Agency Funding (from Sec. 3. Aa) $       

10. Total CWSRF Project Funding (line 8 minus line 9) $       

11. Optional – Additional Loan Amount for FSP Match 

(FSP Borrower Match can be added to project cost if needed.  See Sec. 2. B.) 

$       

Total CWSRF Loan Amount Requested (line 10 plus line11) $       

 

 

 



 

5 of 6 

Section 4 – Project Description: 
(For each proposed project, please complete a separate project description form.  Please be brief.) 

 

A. Project Name:        

 

 

 

B. Project Description:       

 

 

 

 

C. Purpose or need for project:  Describe the existing conditions and the consequences of not 

proceeding. 

 

      

 

 

D. Will this project: 

 

a. Protect a drinking water supply:  Yes   No  

b. Protect a lake:     Yes   No  

c. Protect a shell fishing resource:  Yes   No  

d. Improve an impaired water body:  Yes   No  

e. Address a facility need:   Yes   No  

 

 

E. Water Quality Concerns:  Are there known or suspected water quality concerns that this 

project will address? 

 

If yes, describe.      

 

 

F. Wastewater Treatment Facility Outfall or Combined Sewer Overflow Outfall Elimination: 
If this project eliminates a wastewater treatment facility outfall or one or more combined sewer 

overflow outfalls, please state the number of outfalls eliminated and their identity. 

      

 

 

G. Public Health Risk: 

 

If this project will help alleviate a public health risk, please describe the risk and benefit. 
      

 

 

 

 

 



 

6 of 6 

H. Regulatory Requirements:  Would this project help meet regulatory requirements such as 

Court Order, Consent Agreement, Wastewater Discharge License Compliance Event, CSO 

Long-Term Control Plan, toxicity reduction plan, compliance initiative letter, letter of warning, 

notice of violation, etc.? 

If yes, describe.      

 

 

I. Green Components:  Would this project include “green” components related to (Please refer to 

Attachment 2): 

 

a. Green infrastructure    Yes   No  

b. Water efficiency    Yes   No  

c. Energy efficiency    Yes   No  

d. Environmentally Innovative   Yes   No  

 

 

If yes, describe the energy efficiency components and how this will save energy.  Please include 

all the design and construction costs of the components and the resulting savings.  See the 

attached EPA guidance entitled “The Green Project Reserve”.        

 

 

Green Project Reserve design and construction costs $      




